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MedQuist inc. 1s the leading national provider of medical
transcription and health information management services.
Transcription is the process by which dictation is converted
into an electrenic medical report. The timely production of
accurate reports is necessary for patient care and for health-
care providers to receive reimbursement. Through our
approximately 10,000 transcriptionists and the ability to
interface with healthcare providers' computer systems, we
provide a host of customizable dictation, transcription, speech
recognition, workflow management and medical coding
solutions to shorten our clients’ billing cycles and reduce their
overhead and other administrative costs. We serve more than
3.000 healthcare organizations with an emphasis on superior

customer service and cost-effective solutions.

e Suramany Einancial Highlights

2232 2001 2000
in thousands except for share data

BALARCE SHEET DATA

Working Capital $ 141,902 $135,703 $155,969

Total Assets 474,871 402,114 348,907

Long Term Debt, Net of Current Portion 54 1,088 22

Shareholder’s Equity 410,961 362,887 317,806
283 2001 2000

in thousands except for share data
INCOME STATEMERT
Revenues $ 486,166 $ 405,308 $364,149
Net Income 43,855 43,642 37,801
Diluted Net Income Per Common Share $ 1.6 $ 116 $ 1.02




Dear
Shareholders

2002 marked a year of continued
innovation and diversification for
MedQuist. Your company has recently

completed a successful year that included

growth in revenue and shareholder’s equity

David A. Cohen

Chairman of the Board,
President and
Chief Executive Officer

along with consistent earnings and cash
flow. We are particulatly proud of our
employees who helped to achieve these
results, despite a soft economy. We contin-
ue to work hard to deliver service offerings and flexible solutions
to help meet our customers’ needs.

MedQuist remains a strong company, with a blue chip
client base, high recurring revenue, strong earnings and consistent
cash ow. Management remains committed to the company’s
growth prospects and exploring new technologies and services in
order to streamline our clients’ document management, transcrip-
tion and health information management efforts.

Our strategy is both simple and strong. We strive to be the
leading medical document management company in the world.
As the leading provider of transcription services, we transcribe
more than three billion lines of text each year for thousands of
healthcare clients nationwide. We also have a well-established cus-
tomer base in digital dictation systems and related services. We
continue to increase the number of clients served with each pass-
ing year.

In May, we further strengthened our leadership position in
transcription by introducing our proprietary National
Transcription Process. This important internal initiative was
designed to allow our more than 50 client service centers and
10,000 transcriptionists to transcribe patient darta using one
shared platform. This standardization should increase the produc-
tivity of our medical transcriptionists, simplify workflow, improve
document quality and enhance client satisfaction.

In July, we acquired Lanier Healthcare, which is recognized
as one of the nation’s leading providers of digital dictation systems
and related document management solutions. The acquisition of
Lanier Healthcare significantly enhances our distribution channel
with the addition of 50 sales professionals and 215 service associ-
ates as well as an established dealer network. This acquisition
clearly enhances MedQuist’s position as a leading provider of

medical document management solutions.

Your company remains committed to increasing our role as
a trusted outsourcing and technology partner with our clients.
Throughout 2002, we added a variety of new, cutting-edge tech-
nologies to our product portfolio, including wireless and
handheld PDA devices, voice recognition and an automated cod-
ing product. Our Internet-based, automated coding solution, in
addition to our outsourced coding service, position MedQuist to
help our healthcare clients streamline their coding practices.

In early 2003, we launched Document Enterprise Platform,
a new, Internet-hosted technology that manages dictation, file
routing, transcription and distribution of medical reports. This
platform should allow MedQuist to reduce its costs and support
aggressive, ongoing market penetration in the transcription and
health information management industry by standardizing the
document workflow management process.

MedQuist continues to enjoy its technology partnership
with Royal Philips Electronics, which currently owns roughly 71
percent of our outstanding shares. Philips is a leader in voice
recognition technology, and has an established customer base in
medical imaging in both the United States and Europe. We
anticipate that Philips’ European hospital customer base could
facilitate MedQuist’s entry into this vast marker over the next
several years.

Your company has been successful in hiring the best and
brightest talent, and will continue to make further progress in
developing our employees. One of our goals over the next several
years is to make MedQuist one of the premiere companies to
work for in the health information management industry.

As we look forward, we believe your company is well posi-
tioned for growth, both in revenue and earnings. MedQuist will
continue to invest in emerging technologies, increase operating
efficiencies, hire the best talent and develop our management
team. Over the next few years we plan to maximize the effective-
ness of our distribution channels, continue to enhance our
product and service offerings and extend our leadership position
in medical document management. We believe these initiatives
will result in profitable growth and increased shareholder value in

future years.

Sincerely,

LLw

David A. Cohen

Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer
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Managing Health
Intformation Workflow

informatio,

Timsly veies capture of medical infermation is the
first step in menaging Heelth information.

Timely and accurate flow of
health information is impor-
tant to all aspects of our clients’
success: patient care, regulatory
compliance, internal and exter-
nal communications,
reimbursement, cost manage-
ment and budgeting.
MedQuist is committed to giv-
ing our clients the power to
effectively manage health infor-
mation workflow through a
spectrum of flexible, state-of-
the-art solutions — from
in-house systems to outsourc-

ing options.

MedQuist, Inc.

We are continuously evolving
the power of Internet-hosted
technology to deliver a dramat-
ically new health information
management system that inte-
grates and standardizes
document workflow from the
origin of information (voice
capture) to routing, transcrip-
tion and medical report
distribution. And we help our
clients to preserve their capital
investments in technology by
integrating our products with

their existing systems.

coding <

Coding is the critical step in which patient information is converted
into data that is used in the reimbursement process.

Constantly changing regulations, new medical codes and emerging HIPAA
requirements demand that our clients’ medical records are coded and
managed accurately, efficiently and securely. MedQuist's Coding and
Information Services division is committed o compliance and excellence in
helping our clients with this reimbursement-critical component of health
information workflow. We offer an-site or remote experienced, credentialed
coders 1o support in-house staff or provide a full outsource option. And we
can deliver automated, customized coding solutions that pracess electronic
text through coding algorithms for Emergency Department records.



transcription >

Transcription is the process by which dictation is converted into
an electronic medical report.

MedQuist offers a variety of flexible solutions to manage medical transcription
workflow. With approximately 10,000 medical transcriptionists, a highly
advanced transcription platform and sophisticated interface capabilities,
MedQuist provides customized solutions to reduce clients' overhead expenses,
ensure proper turnaround times and shorten billing cycles. MedQuist's
unique combination of integrated products and services gives our clients
extraordinary flexibility in addressing their individual needs in a cost-effective
manner. Whether a client desires total transcription outsourcing, overflow
assistance, in-house technology or some combination thereof, MedQuist can
provide the industry-leading solution.

Our evolving, Internet-hosted transcription platform differentiates us from our
competitars in the market. Through this technology, we give our clients ulti-
mate efficiency in Web-based transaction services. DocQment™ Enterprise
Platform is a single, standardized pilatform that leverages the Internet to man-
age transcription and eliminates the challenges of supporting multiple
dictation and transcription systems.
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The timely distribution of accurate reports is necessary for patient
care and for healthcare providers to receive reimbursement.

Medical report distribution requires the same flexibility in options as our
transcription services. We offer timely distribution of audited reports via multiple
devices: email, fax, HIS, and RIS (Radiology information System) interfaces.

Our clients can take advantage of time-saving electronic signature for automated
documents. We also provide printed reports for distribution to administration,
medical records, clinical departments and external providers.

Our suite of transcription services and
software solutions support:

Full outsourcing or partial outsourcing to
total in-house transcription

A technology platform that unifies voice
capture, transcription, document
distribution and coding

Single or multiple sites

HIPAA compliance for security and
encryption of patient records

Righly secure access to data from
any browser

Data mining

2002 Annual Report



Client
Service

MedQuist delivers personalized transcription services
through our nationwide client service centers, each with the
authority to meet the needs of its client partners.

It is this combination of size and customization that makes
MedQuist unique. No other vendor offers this combination
of advanced technology, experienced and responsive staff

and financial resources.

MedQuist strives to provide the high-
est level of customer service to our
valued clients on a daily basis. In April
2002, we established the MedQuist
Corporate Client Services department
to monitor company performance and
customer satisfaction. The Client
Services team supports and enhances
all client service initiatives and works
closely with sales associates, service
technicians and the client service cen-
ters nationwide to ensure that all client

needs are addressed on a timely basis.

MedQuist
Team

Teamwork is the key to client satisfac-
tion. Through client interviews,
surveys and a highly sophisticated
database, we address and regularly
monitor our goal of achieving total
client satisfaction. Capitalizing on our
corporate culture of putting the cus-
tomer first, the Corporate Client
Services department works hard to reg-
ularly communicate and build lasting
relationships with our clients. With
dedicated service employees, specific
action plans and executive involve-

ment, MedQuist delivers service.

MedQuist, inc.

“It is the goal of the MedQuist
Corporate Client Services department
to go beyond mere client satisfaction
to client loyalty and retention, and we
are achieving this goal on a daily
basis. This is a commitment that we
have made to our valued clients that
we will work feverishly to uphold.”

Eileen Dwyer

Vice president of corporate services

Seated left 1o right:

Brian J. Kearns,
Executive Vice President,
Treasurer and Chief
Financial Officer

Standing left 1o right:
Ronald E Scarpone,

Executive Vice President,
Marketing

Dale A. Torillo,
Executive Vice President,
Medical Transcription
Division

Dennis M. Mahoney,
Executive Vice President and
President of the Solutions
Division

John W. Quaintance,

Executive Vice President,

President of the Medical

Transcription Division

John M. Suender,
Executive Vice President,
Secretary and Chief Legal
Officer

Ethan H. Cohen,
Executive Vice President and
Chief Technology Officer




Selected Consolidated Financial Data

The following financial information is derived from
our audited financial statements which have been restated to
reflect a change from the cost method of accounting for our
investment in A-Life Medical to the equity accounting

method. This information is only a summary and you

Conselidated Statement of Operations Data:
(in thousands, except per share data)

should read it in conjunction with “Management’s

Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results

of Operations”, our audited consolidated financial state-

ments and related notes and other information thar we have

filed with the SEC.

DeceMBER 31

2002 2001 2000 1999 1998

Revenues ............ ... ivun.n. $ 486,166 $ 405,308 $ 364,149 $ 330,008 $ 271,655

Costs and expenses:

Cost of revenues,

excluding depreciation. . ... ... .... 365,096 299,102 265,817 238,180 209,587

Selling, general and administrative . . . .. 22,253 13,117 11,078 11,763 16,061

Research and development. ... ... .... 2,736 — — — —

Depreciation. . . .................. 18,829 17,001 14,720 12,000 12,697

Amortization of intangible assets. . ... .. 6,827 9,398 7,335 5,333 3,757

Restructuring charges (credits) . . ... ... (576) 868 (1,013) (2,333) 6,539

Other (income) expense ... ......... — (3,000) 6,255 (315) 11,682
Total costs and expenses . . ............ 415,165 336,486 304,192 264,628 260,323
Operatingincome . .. ................ 71,001 68,822 59,957 65,380 11,332
Gain on sale of securities. . . ........... — — 3,672 309 —_
Equity in losses of investee. . . .......... (895) (994) (929) — -
Interest income, net . ......... ... ..., 1,202 3,754 3,874 1,955 325
Income before income taxes ........... 71,308 71,582 66,574 67,644 11,657
Incometaxes .............c. ... 27,453 27,940 28,773 27,439 8,472
Net income ........ ... ... ....... $ 43855 $ 43642 $ 37801 $ 40,205 $ 3185
Basic net income per common share . ... .. $ 1.18 $ 1.18 $ 1.05 $ 1.14 $ 0.10
Diluted net income per common share . . . . . $ 1.16 $ 1.16 $ 1.02 $ 1.09 $ 0.09
Balance Sheet Data:
(in thousands)

DecemBer 31
2002 2001 2000 1999 1998

Working capital . . . . ........... ...... $ 141,902 $ 135,703 $ 155,969 $ 99,354 $ 41,852
Total @ssets « ..\ 474,871 402,114 348,907 302,183 187,311
Long-term debt net of current portion. . .. .. 54 1,088 22 452 215
Other, long-term lizbilities .. ... ........ 1,427 1,187 704 789 697
Shareholders’ equity . . ........ ... ... 410,961 362,887 317,806 256,536 151,186

2002 Annua! Report
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Overview

We are the leading national provider of medical transcrip-
tion services. Over 88% of our revenue in 2002 was derived
from the provision of medical transcription services, which
we recognize when we render services. These services are
based primarily on contracted rates. We also derive revenue
from services other than traditional transcription services,
such as coding revenue, interfacing fees, equipment rentals
and equipment sales. Revenues from these other sources are
recognized when earned.

In July 2002 we acquired Lanier Healthcare, LLC, which
derives revenue largely from the sale and implementation of
voice-capture and document management solutions, and
maintenance service of these products. In conjunction with
this acquisition, we began reporting a separate segment

name Solutions, which is comprised of the operations of
Lanier Healthcare.

For purposes of our discussion and analysis of our results of
operations we distinguish our revenue growth as “core
growth” and growth from large acquisitions. Core growth
includes revenue from all of the above sources and revenue
from companies acquired which had annual sales under $5
million, prior to the date of acquisition. Revenues arising
from acquired companies having annual revenue in excess of
$5 million, prior to the date of acquisition, is discussed sep-
arately in our analysis of revenue growth.

In 2002 we acquired five companies with an aggregate pur-
chase price of $48.7 million, of which only the acquisition
of Lanier Healthcare LLC on July 1, 2002 had a purchase

price in excess of $5 million.

In 2001, we acquired seven companies with an aggregate
purchase price of $79.8 million of which five had a pur-

chase price in excess of $5 million.

Cost of revenue consists of all direct costs associated with
providing sales and services, including payroll, telecommu-
nications, repairs and maintenance, rent and other direct
costs. However, cost of revenue does not include deprecia-
tion. Most of our cost of revenue is variable in nature, but
includes certain fixed components. Selling, general and
administrative expenses include costs associated with our
senior executive management, marketing, accounting, legal
and other administrative functions. Selling, general and
administrative expenses are mostly fixed in nature, but

MedQuist, Inc.

include certain variable components. Research and develop-
ment consists of expenses related to the development of new
products and services and are mostly fixed in nature.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Management Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations are based on our
Consolidated Financial Statements, which have been pre-
pared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America. The preparation
of these financial statements requires management to make
estimates and assumptions which affect the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue, expense, and related
disclosures. Management bases its estimates on historical
experience and on various other assumptions that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the
results of which form the basis for making judgments about
the carrying values of assets and liabilities.

Management believes the following critical accounting poli-
cies affect its more significant estimates and assumptions
used in the preparation of its consolidated financial state-
ments. These critical accounting policies and estimate have
been discussed with the Company’s audit committee.

Revenue Recognition

A substantial portion of our revenue is derived from provid-
ing medical transcription services, which we recognize when
services are rendered. These services are based primarily on
contracted rates. A portion of our revenue is derived from
the sale and implementation of voice-capture and document
management solutions, and maintenance service of these
products. We recognize revenue and profit on sales and
implementation utilizing the percentage of completion
method. With regard to service contracts, which is arranged
separate from the product sale, the typical arrangement
spans 12 months. We recognize revenue on the service con-
tracts on a straight line method over the term of the
underlying service contract. Deferred revenues represent
cash received from customers in advance of revenues being
recognized for the related payment.

Bad Debt

We estimate allowances for doubtful accounts receivables
based on historical experience and evaluation of the finan-
cial condition of the customers. Historically, our estimates




have been adequate to cover accounts receivable exposure. If
circumstances telated to our estimates change, we may need
to record additional allowances.

Valuation of Goodwill, Other Intangible Assets and
Other Leng-Lived Assets

In accordance with SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for
Impairment of Disposal of Long-Lived Assets”, we assess
long-lived assets, such as property, plant, and equipment, and
purchased intangibles subject to amortization, for impair-
ment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.

We measure recoverability of assets to be held and used by
comparing the carrying amount of an asset to estimated
undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by
the asset. If the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its esti-
mated future cash flows, an impairment charge is
recognized by the amount by which the carrying amount of
the asset exceeds the fair value of the asset. Assets to be dis-
posed of would be separately presented in the balance sheet
and reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair
value less costs to sell, and are no longer depreciated. The
assets and liabilities of a disposed group classified as held for
sale would be presented separately in the appropriate asset
and liability sections of the balance sheet.

We test goodwill and intangible assets not subject to amor-
tization annually for impairment. Should events and
circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired at
some time prior to the annual test, we will test more fre-
quently. An impairment loss is recognized to the extent that
the carrying amount exceeds the asset’s fair value.

Deferred Taxes

We record a valuation allowance to reduce our deferred tax
assets to the amount that is more likely than not to be real-
ized. We have considered future taxable income and
prudent and feasible tax planning strategies in determining
the need for a valuation allowance. In the event we were to
determine that we could not realize all or part of our net
deferred tax assets in the future, an adjustment to the
deferred tax assets would be charged to earnings in the peri-
od such determination is made. Likewise, if we later
determine that it is more likely than not that the net
deferred tax assets would be realized, the previously provid-
ed valuation reserve would be reversed.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated,
certain financial data as a percentage of revenue.

Year Ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000

Revenue ......cccccvviiviiiniiiiiinnnns 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Costs and expenses:
Cost of revenue,

excluding depreciation............ 75.1 73.8 73.0
Selling, general and

administrative ......ccccoeieenn 4.6 3.2 3.0
Research and development........ 0.5 — —
Depreciation .......cooeoviriiieiiennenn. 3.8 4.2 4.0
Amortization of intangible assets. 1.4 2.3 2.0
Restructuring charges (credits) ... (0.1) 0.2 (0.2
Other income (expense) ............ — 0.7 1.7

Total costs and expenses......... 85.4 83.0 83.5
Operating iNCOME ...oovvvvirerennnne 14.6 17.0 16.5
Gain on sale of securities.......... — — 1.0
Equity in loss of investee .......... (0.2) (0.2) (0.2)
Interest income, net ....ooooeeeel 0.3 0.9 1.0
Income before income taxes ..... 14.7 17.7 18.3
Income taxes......ccoceeieirerininiinns 5.7 6.9 7.9
Net income ....coccovveveviinncnnnnn, 9.0% 10.8% 10.4%

Year Ended December 31, 2002 Compared to Year
Ended December 31, 2001

REVENUES. Revenues increased 19.9% from $405.3 mil-
lion in 2001 to $486.2 million in 2002. Revenue for the
service segment increased 10.7% from $405.3 million in
2001 to $448.9 million in 2002. The increase was the result
of acquisitions made in late 2001 and 2002. Revenue for
the solutions segment were $37.9 million in 2002 and were
the result of the acquisition of Lanier Healthcare LLC on
July 1, 2002. There were $605 thousand in revenues
between the two segments, which have been eliminated in
consolidation.

COST OF REVENUES, EXCLUDING DEPRECIATION.
Cost of revenue increased 22.1% from $299.1 million in
2001 to $365.1 million in 2002. As a percentage of rev-
enue, cost of revenue increased from 73.8% in 2001 to
75.1% in 2002. Cost of revenue from the services segment
increased from $299.1 million or 73.8% of revenue in 2001
to $340.7 million or 75.9% of revenue in 2002. The
increase primarily resulted from increased payroll and tran-
scription costs in addition to costs associated with
development of our new transcription platform, partially

2002 Annual Report



offset by a decrease in telecommunications costs. Cost of
revenue for the solutions segment was $24.6 million or
65.0% of revenue in 2002 consisting primarily of costs of
equipment sold and payroll related costs.

SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE. Selling,
general and administrative expense increased 69.7% from
$13.1 million in 2001 to $22.3 million in 2002. As a per-
centage of revenue, selling, general and administrative
expense increased from $3.2% in 2001 to 4.6% in 2002.
Of the increase in expense between the comparable periods
$7.8 million of the increase results from the Lanier acquisi-
tion and largely relates to the cost of the sales force. The
remaining $1.4 million increase is the result of increased
costs to support operations.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT. Research and develop-
ment costs were $2.7 million in 2002. These costs relate
entirely to Lanier, which was acquired on July 1, 2002.

DEPRECIATION. Depreciation expense increased 10.7%
from $17.0 million in 2001 to $18.8 million in 2002. As a
percentage of revenue, depreciation decreased from 4.2% in
2001 to 3.9% in 2002. The increase in expense was due to
capital purchases to support the revenue base. As a percent-
age of revenue, depreciation decreased as a result of our
ability to reduce certain voice capture component costs

through our acquisition of Digital Voice, Inc. early in 2001.

AMORTIZATION OF INTANGIBLE ASSETS.
Amortization of intangible assets decreased from $9.4 mil-
lion in 2001 to $6.8 million in 2002. The decrease is
attributable to the elimination of goodwill amortization in
accordance with SFAS 142, “Goodwill and Other
Intangibles”, reflecting a $3.4 million reduction of amorti-
zation partially offset by $800,000 of amortization of other
intangibles associated with the Company’s acquisitions in
2001 and 2002, which were accounted for using the pur-
chase method.

MedQuist, Inc.

RESTRUCTURING (CREDITS). In December 2001, we
approved a restructuring plan associated with the roll out of
our new transcription platform. The plan included the clo-
sure of several operating facilities in order to improve
operating efficiencies. Costs associated with the plan of
approximately $1.5 million were recognized in 2001. The
components of the restructuring charge and associated
activity is as follows (000’s omitted):

Non-
Cancelable
Leases Severance  Total
2001 Restructuring charge ........ $ 1,343 $ 125 $ 1,468
Payments against restructuring
accrual in 2002..vieeiiieiieniinns (546) (44) (591)
Revision to estimate
recorded in 2002.................... (319) — (318)
Accrual at December 31, 2002..$ 478 3 81 $ 559

Payments against the restructuring accrual are scheduled to

be made through 2006.

In November 2001, we completed the purchase of a med-
ical transcription company. In connection with this
acquisition, we established a restructure reserve of $1.8 mil-
lion. The components of the restructuring charge and
associated activity is as follows (000’s omitted):

Non-
Cancelable
Leases Severance  Total
2001 Restructuring charge ........ $ 1,599 $ 191 $1,790
Payments against restructuring
accrual:
2001 o (85) — (85)
2002 i (692) (181) (873)
Revision to estimate recorded
iN 2002 ..o, (296) — (296)
Accrual at December 31, 2002..3 526 $ 10 $ 536

Payments against the restructuring accrual are scheduled to

be made through 2005.

In December 1998, the Company’s board of directors
approved management’s restructuring plan associated with
another entity. The components of the restructuring charge
and associated activity is as follows (000’s omitted):




Non-Cancelable

Non-Cancelable Severance Contracts and
Leases (in thousands) Other Exit Costs Total
1998 RestructuringCharge . ... ... .. e $ 3,835 $ 1,618 $ 1,086 $ 6,539
Payments against Restructuring accrual:
1998 e — (567) (410) (977)
1998 (437) (723) (17) (1,177)
2000 e e e (556) (20) — (576)
2001 e (164) — — (164)
2002 e (343) — — (343)
Revision to estimate recorded in 1999 ... ... ... .. ... ... .... (1,492) (182) (659) (2,333)
Revision to estimate recorded in 2000 .. ... ........ ... ...... (471) — — (471)
Revision to estimate recorded in 2001 ... ........... ... .. ... (44) (126) — (170)
Revision to estimate recorded in 2002 .. ........... ... ... ... (257) — — (257)
Accrual at December 31,2002 .. ... ... i, $ 71 3 — 3 — $ 71

In 1997, an acquired entity had approved a separate man-
agement plan to close and/or merge several redundant
customer service centers in order to reduce costs and
improve operating efficiencies. The plan was completed
during 1998 and included the cost of exiting certain facili-
ties, primarily related to non-cancelable leases, the
disposition of fixed assets and employee severance costs.
During 2001, we revised our accrual estimates and
$430,000 of the restructure accruals were reversed in con-
nection with the revision. At December 31, 2001, the
accrual had been fully utilized.

EQUITY IN LOSSES OF INVESTEE. As a result of our
increased ownership in A-Life to 28.1% in January 2002,
we were required to reflect this investment under the equity
method of accounting. As a result, for 2002 we recognized a
loss on investment of $895,000. This loss was the result of
$333,000 of amortization related to $1 million of the
investment being allocated to acquire software and
$562,000 related to our share of A-Life’s operating loss.
Our equity in the losses for 2001 was $994,000. We
increased our ownership in A-Life to 31.6% and 33.6% on
June 28, 2002 and November 1, 2002, respectively.

INTEREST INCOME. We had net interest income of $3.7
million in 2001 and $1.2 million in 2002. The decrease is
due to decreased rates of return on cash and cash equivalents.

IMCOME TAXES. The income tax provision decreased from
$27.9 million or 39.0% of pre-tax income in 2001 to $27.5
million or 38.5% of pre-tax income in 2002. The decrease
in tax resulted from decreased pre-tax earnings in 2002.

Year Ended December 31, 2001 Compared to Year
Ended December 31, 2000

REVENUES. Revenues increased 11.3% from $364.1 mil-
lion in 2000 to $405.3 million in 2001. The $41.2 million
increase resulted from increased sales to existing customers,
sales to new customers and strategic partners and additional
revenue from acquisitions. The $41.2 million increase
resulted from $13.6 million of core growth and $27.6 mil-
lion from large acquisitions.

COSTS OF REVENUES, EXCLUDING DEPRECIATION.
Cost of revenues increased 12.5% from $265.8 million in
2000 to $299.1 million in 2001. As a percentage of rev-
enues, cost of revenue increased from 73.0% in 2000 to
73.8% in 2001 due primarily to an increase in payroll
expense in 2001.

SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE. Seuing,
general and administrative expenses increased 18.4% from
$11.1 million in 2000 to $13.1 million in 2001. As a per-
centage of revenue, selling, general and administrative costs
increased from 3.0% in 2000 to 3.2% in 2001. The
increase primarily resulted from increased spending to sup-
port our existing and new business.

DEPRECIATION. Depreciation increased 15.5% from
$14.7 million in 2000 to $17.0 million in 2001. As a per-
centage of revenue, depreciation increased from 4.0% in
2000 to 4.2% in 2001. The increase resulted from increased
capital expenditures and fixed assets acquired in purchase
business acquisitions in 2000 and 2001.

2002 Annual Report 9
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AMORTIZATION OF INTANGIBLE ASSETS.

Amortization of intangible assets was $7.3 million in 2000
compared to $9.4 million in 2001. The increase is attributa-
ble to the amortization of intangible assets associated with
the Company’s acquisitions, which were accounted for using

the purchase method in 2000 and 2001.

OTHER (INCOME) EXPENSE. During 2001, we settled a
lawsuit, in our favor, for a non-recurring gain of $3.0 mil-
lion, net of legal expenses.

EQUITY [N LOSSES OF INVESTEE. As a result of our
increased ownership in A-Life to 28.1% in January 2002,
we were required to reflect this investment under the equity
method of accounting, for prior periods, using our 19.2%
ownership percentage prior to January 2002. As a result we
recognized a loss on investment of $929,000 and $994,000
for 2000 and 2001, respectively.

INCOME TAXES. The income tax provision decreased from
$28.8 million or 43.2% of pre-tax income in 2000 to $27.9
million or 39.0% of pre-tax income in 2001. The decrease
primarily resulted from the majority of the tender offer
costs incurred in 2000 not being deductible for tax purpos-
es, and state tax planning.

Liquidity and Gapital Resources

At December 31, 2002, we had working capital of $141.9
million, including $103.4 million of cash and cash equiva-
lents. During the year ended December 31, 2002, our
operating activities provided cash of $82.7 million and dur-
ing the year ended December 31, 2001 our operating
activities provided cash of $82.2 million. The increase
resulted from increased collections from accounts receivable
and an increase in accounts payable, partially offset by a
decrease in other current assets.

During the year ended December 31, 2002, we used cash in
investing activities of $66.0 million, consisting of $16.4
million of capital expenditures, $932 thousand of invest-
ments in A-Life Medical, Inc. and $48.7 million for
acquisitions accounted for under the purchase method.
During the year ended December 31, 2001, we used cash in
investing activities of $93.5 million, consisting of $14.1
million of capital expenditures, $1.7 million of investments
in A-Life Medical, Inc. securities and $77.7 million for
acquisitions accounted for under the purchase method.
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During the year ended December 31, 2002, net cash provid-
ed by financing activities was $245 thousand, consisting of
$2.4 million in proceeds from the issuance of common stock
including option exercises and issuances in connection with
employee benefit plans, partially offset by $2.1 million for
repayment of long-term debt. During the year ended
December 31, 2001, net cash provided by financing activities
was $231,000 consisting of $1.2 million in proceeds from the
issuance of common stock including option exercises and
issuances in connection with employee benefit plans, partially
offset by $938,000 for repayment of long-term debt.

In April 2000, we made a $6.0 million investment in A-Life
Medical, Inc., a leader in advanced natural language pro-
cessing technology for the medical industry. In 2001, we
advanced A-Life Medical, Inc. $1.0 million as a prepayment
on a license agreement and we advanced $674,000 to A-Life
Medical, Inc. in connection with an additional investment
which closed in January 2002. In 2002, we invested an
additional $892,000 in A-Life Medical, Inc. and purchased
shares from six investors for $40,000. Qur investment in A-
Life Medical, Inc. is inherently risky due to the nature of its
early stage development technology and related uncertain
near term opportunities. We will continue to monitor this
investment on a periodic basis. In the event the carrying
value of the investment exceeds the fair value of the invest-
ment and the decline is determined to be
other-than-temporary, an impairment charge will be record-
ed. Fair value for A-Life Medical, Inc. is based on estimates
and assumptions used in forecasted financial models. In
order to determine whether a decline in value is other-than-
temporary, we evaluate, among other factors: the duration
and extent to which the fair value has been less than carry-
ing value; the financial condition of the company, including
key operational and cash flow metrics; current market con-
ditions, future projections and the business outlook for the
company; and our intent and ability to retain the invest-
ment for a period of time sufficient to allow for any
anticipated recovery in fair value.

We have previously accounted for the investment in A-Life
under the cost method. As a result of our increased owner-
ship percentage from the January 2002 financing
transaction, we began to account for the investment under
the equity method. The 2001 and 2000 consolidated finan-
cial statements have been restated to reflect the change in
accounting method.



We believe that our cash and cash equivalent on hand, cash
flow generated from operations and our ability to leverage
the company will be sufficient to meet our current working
capital and capital expenditure requirements.

Impact of New Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 143, “Accounting
for Asset Retirement Obligations”. SFAS No. 143 requires
the Company to record the fair value of an asset retirement
obligation as a liability in the period in which it incurs a
legal obligations associated with the retirement of tangible
long-lived assets that result from the acquisition, construc-
tion, development, and/or normal use of the assets. The
Company also records a corresponding asset that is depreci-
ated over the life of the asset. Subsequent to the initial
measurement of the asset retirement obligation, the obliga-
tion will be adjusted at the end of each period to reflect the
passage of time and changes in the estimated future cash
flows underlying the obligation. The Company is required
to adopt SFAS No. 143 on January 1, 2003. The adoption
of SFAS No. 143 is not expected to have a material effect
on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In April 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 145, “Rescission
of FASB Statements No. 4, 44 and 64, Amendment of
FASB Statement No. 13, and Technical Corrections”. SFAS
No. 145 amends existing guidance on reporting gains and
losses on the extinguishment of debt to prohibit the classifi-
cation of the gain or loss as extraordinary, as the use of such
extinguishments have become part of the risk management
strategy of many companies. SFAS No. 145 also amends
SFAS No. 13 to require sale-leaseback accounting for cer-
tain lease modifications that have economic effects similar
to sale-leaseback transactions. The provisions of the
Statement related to the rescission of Statement No. 4 is
applied in fiscal years beginning after May 15, 2002. Earlier
application of these provisions is encouraged. The provi-
sions of the Statement related to Statement No. 13 were
effective for transactions occurring after May 15, 2002, with
early application encouraged. The adoption of SFAS No.
145 is not expected to have a material effect on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, “Accounting
for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities”. SFAS
No. 146 addresses financial accounting and reporting for
costs associated with exit or disposal activities and nullifies
Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) Issue 94-3, “Liability

Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits

and Other Costs to Exit an Activity”. The provisions of this
Statement are effective for exit or disposal activities that are
initiated after December 31, 2002, with early application
encouraged. The adoption of SFAS No. 146 is not expected
to have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements.

In November 2002, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 45,
“Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for
Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness
to Others, an interpretation of FASB Statements No. 5, 57
and 107 and a rescission of FASB Interpretation No. 34”.
This Interpretation elaborates on the disclosures to be made
by a guarantor in its interim and annual financial state-
ments about its obligations under guarantees issued. The
Interpretation also clarifies that a guarantor is required to
recognize, at inception of a guarantee, a liability for the fair
value of the obligation undertaken. The initial recognition
and measurement provisions of the Interpretation are appli-
cable to guarantees issued or modified after December 31,
2002 and are not expected to have a material effect on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements. The disclosure
requirements are effective for financial statements of interim
and annual periods ending after December 31, 2002.

In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148,
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation — Transition
and Disclosure, an amendment of FASB Statement No.
123”. This Statement amends FASB Statement No. 123,
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”, to provide
alternative methods of transition for a voluntary change to
the fair value method of accounting for stock-based
employee compensation. In addition, this Statement
amends the disclosure requirements of Statement No. 123
to require prominent disclosures in both annual and inter-
im financial statements. Certain of the disclosure
modifications are required for fiscal years ending after
December 15, 2002 and are included in the notes to these
consolidated financial statements.

In November 2002, the EITF finalized its tentative consen-
sus on EITF Issue 00-21, “Revenue Arrangements with
Multiple Deliverables”, which provides guidance on the
timing and method of revenue recognition for sales arrange-
ments that include the delivery of more than one product
or service. EITF 00-21 is effective prospectively for arrange-
ments entered into in fiscal periods beginning after June 15,
2003. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of
the adoption of this consensus on the Company’s consoli-
dated financial statements.
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In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46,
“Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an interpreta-
tion of ARB No. 517. This Interpretation addresses the
consolidation by business enterprises of variable interest
entities as defined in the Interpretation. The Interpretation
applies immediately to variable interests in variable interest
entities created after January 31, 2003, and to variable
interests in variable interest entities obtained after January
31, 2003. For nonpublic enterprises, with a variable interest
in a variable interest entity created before February 2, 2003,
the Interpretation is applied to the enterprise no later than
the end of the first annual reporting petiod beginning after
June 15, 2003. The Company is currently evaluating the
impact of the adoption of this interpretation on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements. The
Interpretation requires certain disclosures in financial state-
ments issued after January 31, 2003 if it is reasonably
possible that the Company will consolidate or disclose
information about variable interest entities when the
Interpretation becomes effective.

Quantitative and Cualitative Disclosure
About Market Risk

We generally do not use derivative financial instruments in
our investment portfolio. We make investments in instru-
ments that meet credit quality standards, as specified in our
investment policy guidelines; the policy also limits the
amount of credit exposure to any one issue, and type of
instrument. We do not expect any material loss with respect
to our investment portfolio.

Inflation

We believe that the effects of inflation and changing prices
generally do not have a material adverse effect on our results
of operations or financial condition.

Forward-Looking Statements

Some of the information in this Annual Report contains
forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section
27A of the Securities Act and Section 21E of the Securities
Exchange Act. We also may have referred you to this note in
other written or oral disclosures we have made, such as our
quarterly earnings conference calls. These statements
include forward-looking language such as “will likely
result,” “may,” “are expected to,” “is anticipated,” “estimat-
ed,” “projected,” “intends to” or other similar words. Our
actual results are likely to differ, and could differ materially,
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from the results expressed in, or implied by, these forward-
looking statements. There are many factors that could cause
these forward-looking statements to be incorrect, including
but not limited to the following risks: risks associated with
(1) our ability to recruit and retain qualified transcription-
ists and other employees; (2) inability to complete and
assimilate acquisitions of businesses, especially acquisitions
of non-medical transcription businesses, because we have no
prior experience in such businesses; (3) dependence on our
senior management team and new senior management from
non-medical transcription acquisitions; (4) the impact of
new services or products on the demand for our existing
services; (5) our current dependence on medical transcrip-
tion for substantially all of our business; (6) our ability to
expand our customer base; (7) our ability to maintain our
current growth rate in revenue and earnings; (8) the volatili-
ty of our stock price; (9) our ability to compete with others;
(10) changes in law, including, without limitation, the
impact the Health Information Portability and
Accountability Act (“HIPAA”) will have on our business;
(11) infringement on the proprietary rights of others; (12)
our failure to comply with confidentiality requirements;
(13) the inability to predict future economic or market
conditions; and (14) risks inherent in diversifying into
other businesses, such as from the acquisition of Lanier
Healthcare (digital dictation equipment) and entering into
the medical record coding reimbursement business. When
considering these forward-looking statements, you should
keep in mind these risk factors and the other cautionary
statements we may make in connection with any such state-
ments, and you should recognize that those forward-looking
statements speak only as of cthe date made. MedQuist does
not undertake any obligation to update any forward-looking
statement included in this Annual Report or elsewhere.



Consolidated Balance Sheets

DecemBer 31

(in thousands, except per share amounts) 2002 2001

Assets

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents . . . ... . ... e e $ 103,392 $ 86,334
Accounts receivable, net. . . . . e 86,465 78,429
Prepaid expenses and other. . . . . . .. .. . L 3,673 1,374
INVEMIOrIES . . o ot e e e 4,563 340
Deferred inCOMeE taXeS . . . . . oo e 6,238 6,178
Total current assets . . . e e 204,331 172,655
Property and equipment, net . . . . ... .. e 37,804 34,167
GoOdWill, Nt . . o 136,127 110,584
Other Intangible assets, net. . . ... . . e e 73,798 57,219
Deferred inCome taxes . . . o v i e e 15,524 20,197
40T 7,287 7,292
$ 474871 $402,114

Liabilities and shareholders’ Equity

Current liabilities:

Current portion of long-term debt. . .. ... ... .. . . $ 31 $ 1,067
Accounts payable. . . .. .. 9,908 4,562
ACCIUB BXPENSES .« v v v ot it st e e e e 33,701 30,990
Deferred reVENUE . . . o . i e e 18,789 333
Total current liabilities . . . . . ... . e 62,429 36,952
Long-term debt . . .. e 54 1,088
Other long-term liabilities . . . . . ... . e 1,427 1,187

Commitments and contingencies (note 11)
Shareholders’ equity:

Common stock, no par value. Authorized 60,000 shares;. . . ........... ... ... ....
issued and outstanding 37,091 and 36,889 shares, respectively .. ... .......... 229,149 225,503
Retained earmings . . . .. i e 181,216 137,361
Deferred COMPENSatioN . . . . v e — (31)
Accumulated other comprehensive income . . .. ... .. . L e 596 54
Total shareholders’ equUity . . .. .. o i e e 410,961 362,887

$474871 $402.114

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Operations

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

ReVeNUES. . . . . e e
Costs and expenses:
Cost of revenues, excluding depreciation. ... ..............
Selling, general, and administrative .. ...................
Research and development . . ... ... ... ... .. ... ...,
‘Depreciation . .. ... e
Amortization of intangibleassets .. .....................
Restructuring charges {credits). . . . ....... ... ... .. .. ...
Other (inCOME) BXPENSE . . . v . v i it e et e
Total costsand expenses. . ... ... .. ... ... . ... .
Operatingincome. . . ... .. ... . i
Gainon sale of securities. . .. ... ... .. .
Share in net loss of A-Life Medical, Inc.. . ..................
Interest income, net . . ... ...
Income before incometaxes. .. ... ... . i i
Income taxes provision . ... ... ..t e
Net InCOmMe . . .o e e
Basic net income percommonshare . . ....................
Diluted net income per commonshare. .. ..................

Decemger 31

2002 2001 2000
$486,166 $405,308 $364,149
365,096 299,102 265,817
22,253 13,117 11,078
2,736 — —
18,829 17,001 14,720
6,827 9,398 7,335
(576) 868 (1,013)
— (3,000) 6.255
415,165 336,486 304,192
71,001 68,822 59,957
— — 3,672
(895) (994) (929)
1,202 3,754 3,874
71,308 71,582 66,574
27,453 27,940 28,773
$ 43855 $ 43,642 $ 37,801
$ 1.18 $ 1.18 $ 1.05
$ 1.16 $ _1.16 $ 1.02

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity

Accumulated

other
Common Stock Retained Deferred comprehensive
(in thousands) Shares Amount earnings  compensation income Total
Balance, December 31, 1999. . .. .......... 35,917 $200,205 55,918 (291) 704 256,536 _
Comprehensive income:
Net income (see Note 7) . . . ... ....... — — 37,801 — — 37,801
Change in unrealized gain on available
for sale securities, netoftax ... ..... — — — — (704) (704)
Total comprehensive income ... ... — — 37,801 — (704) 37,097
Exercise of common stock options,
including tax benefit. . .. ............ 1,381 37,025 — — — 37,025
Shares repurchased retired . .. .......... (600) (15,466) — — — (15,466)
Amortization of deferred compensation . .. .. — — — 163 — 163
Issuance of common stock . ............ 71 1,622 — — — 1,622
Balance, December 31, 2000 (see Note 7). . . .. 36,769 223,286 93,719 (128) — 316,877
Comprehensive income:
Nef income (see Note 7). . . .. ... ..... — — 43,642 —_ — 43,642
Cumulative translation adjustments. . . . .. — — — — 54 54
Total comprehensive income ... ... — — 43,642 — 54 43,696
Exercise of common stock options,
including tax benefit. . . ............. 51 909 — — — 909
Amortization of deferred compensation . . . .. — — — 97 — 97
Issuance of common stock . ............ 69 1,308 — — — 1,308
Balance, December 31, 2001 (see Note 7). . . .. 36,889 225,503 137,361 (31) 54 362,887
Comprehensive income:
Netincome......... ... ... . ....... — — 43,855 — — 43,855
Cumutlative translation adjustments. . . . .. — — — — 542 542
Total comprehensive income . ... .. — — 43,855 — 542 44,397
Exercise of common stock options,
including tax benefit. ... ............ 168 2,781 — — — 2,781
Amortization of deferred compensation . . . .. — — — 31 — 31
Issuance of common stock .. ........... 34 865 — — — 865
Balance, December 31,2002. .. ........... 37.091 $229.149 181,216 — 596 410,961

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Decemeer 31

(in thousands) 2002 2001 2000
Operating activities
Net income ... .. $ 43,855 $ 43,642 $ 37,801

Adjustments to reconcile net income to
net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization ... .................. 25,656 26,399 22,055
Gain on sale of securities .. ...... ... o o — — (3,672)
Equity in Loss of A-Life Medical, Inc. . ............... 895 994 929
Amortization of deferrad compensation . .............. 31 97 163
Deferred income tax provision . .................... 650 57 2,797
Pension contribution payable in common stock. . ... .. ... 277 941 867
Stock-based compensation to members of

board of directors. . .. ... ... ... .. .. — — 311
Tax benefit from exercise of employee stock options . ... .. 882 239 17,720

Changes in assets and liabilities excluding
effects of acquisitions:

Accounts receivable, net. ... ... ... . L 8,827 6,763 1,071
Prepaid expenses and other. . .. ............... 386 5,782 (6,349)
Inventories . .. ... ... .. . (473) 5 —
Otherassets .. ... ... .. ... . . i, 45 (571} 437
Accounts payable. .. . ......... . .. ... ... .... 1,071 (2,770) (1,141)
Deferred revenue . . . . oo i vt 1,936 (152) (128)
Accrued eXpenses .. v e (1,621) 244 (12,240)
Other long-term liabilities . . .. ................ 240 483 (85)
Net cash provided by operating activities. . . ... .. 82,657 82,153 60,536
Investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment . . . .. ....... ... .. ... (16,448) (14,058) (17,492)
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired . .. ................... (48,657) (77,737) (8,102)
Purchase of investments. . . ........ ... . ... ... ... ... — — (728)
Investment in/advances to A-Life Medical, Inc.. . . ........... (932) (1,674) (6,051)
Proceeds from sale of investments . . .................... — — 4,403
Net cash used in investing activities. . ... ...... (66,037) (93,469) (27,970)
Financing activities:
Repayments of longtermdebt . . .. .. .. ... ... L. (2,142) (938) (1,568)
Proceeds from exercise of common stock options . . .. ........ 1,899 670 19,305
Proceeds from issuance of commonstock .. ............... 488 499 504
Purchase and retirement of common stock. . .. ............. — — (15,466)
Net cash provided by financing activities. . ... ... 245 231 2,775
Effect of exchange ratechanges . .. ........ .. .. ... ... .... 193 54 —
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents,
and cash equivalent with related party . ... ... 17,058 (11,031) 35,341
Cash, cash equivalents, and cash equivalent with related party,
beginningof year. . . . .. ... ... 86,334 97,365 62,024
Cash, cash equivalents, and cash equivalent with related party,
end of year . . .. $103,392 $ 86,334 $ 97,365

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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MedQuist Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(in thousands, except per-share amounts)

December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000

1 Background and Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies

Background

MedQuist Inc. (the Company or MedQuist) is a com-
prehensive provider of health information services and
solutions. Over the past two years, MedQuist began
offering coding reimbursement services, as well as on
site solutions to the healthcare industry’s document
management needs. The Company currently manages
its business in two segments (see note 1(s)).

The Company is a majority-owned subsidiary of
Koninklijke Philips Electronics N.V. (Philips) (see
note 14).

Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements
include the accounts of MedQuist and its subsidiaries.
All material intercompany balances and transactions
have been eliminated in consolidation.

Translation of Foreign Currency

In 2002 and 2001, the Company established foreign
subsidiaries in the United Kingdom and Canada, both
of which use the local currency as its functional cur-
rency. Assets and liabilities of these subsidiaries are
translated at exchange rates in effect at the balance
sheet date, and income and expense accounts and cash
flow items are translated at average exchange rates dur-
ing the period. The resulting translation adjustments
are recorded as a component of accumulated other
comprehensive income within shareholders’ equity.
Foreign exchange rate gains and losses included in
operating results are not material in 2002 and 2001.

Use of Estimates and Assumptions

The preparation of financial statements in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States requires management to make estimates
and assumptions thar affect the reported assets and lia-
bilities and contingency disclosures at the date of the

financial statements and the reported amounts of rev-
enues and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash and highly liquid
investments purchased with an original maturity of three
months or less, and consist primarily of cash on deposit

with banks. At times, cash balances held at financial insti-

tutions are in excess of federally insured limits. The
Company places its temporary cash investments with
high-credit, quality financial institution. Management
believes that no significant concentration of credit risk
exists with respect to these cash investments.

Interest income earned on investments in cash equiva-
lents was $1,245, $3,524, and $3,915 for the years
ended December 31, 2002, 2001, and 2000, respectively.

Cash Equivalent with Related Party

Cash equivalent with related party consisted of cash
deposited with Philips for the purpose of optimizing
income from temporary excess cash. In the fourth
quarter of 2000, the Company began participating in
a deposit facility established by Philips which allowed
investments up to $100 million to earn interest at
LIBOR less 0.125%, for periods up to 365 days. The
Company withdrew all funds invested in this related-
party deposit facility in the second quarter of 2001
and, at December 31, 2002 and 2001 the Company
had no such investment.

Interest income earned on cash deposited with Philips
was $0, $403 and $44 for the years ended
December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

Investments in Marketable Securities

Investments in marketable securities are accounted for
in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (SFAS) No. 115, Accounting for Certain
Investments in Debt and Equity Securities. As such, the
securities were carried at fair value, based on quoted
market prices, with unrealized gains and losses report-
ed as a component of accumulated other
comprehensive income within shareholder’s equity.
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During 2000, the Company sold the marketable secu-
rities resulting in a gain of $3,672. No investments in
marketable securities were held at in 2002 and 2001.

Inmventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market.
Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out (FIFO)
method.

Bad Deht Expense

The Company estimates allowances for doubtful
accounts receivables based on historical experience and
evaluation of the financial condition of the customers.
Historically, the estimates have been adequate to cover
accounts receivable exposure. If circumstances related
to the estimates change, the Company may need to
record additional allowances.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost.
Depreciation and amortization are provided using the
straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of
the assets, which range from three to seven years for
furniture, equipment and software, and the lesser of
the lease term or useful life for leasehold improve-
ments. Repairs and maintenance costs are charged to
expense as incurred, while additions and betterments
are capitalized. Gains or losses on disposals are
charged to operations.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of costs over fair value
of assets of businesses acquired. The Company adopt-
ed the provisions of SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets, as of January 1, 2002.
Goodwill and intangible assets acquired in a purchase
business combination and determined to have an
indefinite useful life are not amortized, but instead
tested for impairment at least annually in accordance
with the provisions of SFAS No. 142. SFAS No. 142
also requires that intangible assets with estimable use-
ful lives be amortized over their respective estimated
useful lives to their estimated residual values, and
reviewed for impairment in accordance with SFAS
No. 144, Accounting for Impairment or Disposal of
Long-Lived Assets.
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In connection with SFAS No. 142’ transitional good-
will impairment evaluation, the Statement required
the Company to perform an assessment of whether
there was an indication that goodwill is impaired as of
the date of adoption. To accomplish this, the
Company was required to identify its reporting units
and determine the carrying value of each reporting
unit by assigning the assets and liabilities, including
the existing goodwill and intangible assets, to those
reporting units as of January 1, 2002. The Company
was required to determine the fair value of each
reporting unit and compare it to the carrying amount
of the reporting unit within six months of January 1,
2002. To the extent the carrying amount of a report-
ing unit exceeded the fair value of the reporting unit,
the Company would be required to perform the sec-
ond step of the transitional impairment test, as this is
an indication that the reporting unit goodwill may be
impaired. The second step was required for each
reporting unit. However, the Company had only one
reporting unit at that time. In this step, the Company
compared the implied fair value of the reporting unit
goodwill with the carrying amount of the reporting
unit goodwill, both of which were measured as of the
date of adoption. The implied fair value of goodwill
was determined by allocating the fair value of the
reporting unit to all of the assets (recognized and
unrecognized) and liabilities of the reporting unitin a
manner similar to a purchase price allocation, in
accordance with SFAS No. 141, Business
Combinations. The residual fair value after this alloca-
tion was the implied fair value of the reporting unit
goodwill. The implied fair value of the reporting unit
exceeded its carrying amount and the Company was
not required to recognize an impairment loss.

Prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 142, goodwill was
amortized on a straight-line basis over the expected
periods to be benefited, ranging from 20 to 40 years,
and assessed for recoverability by determining whether
the amortization of the goodwill balance over its
remaining life could be recovered through undiscount-
ed future operating cash flows of the acquired
operation. All other intangible assets were amortized
on a straight-line basis from three to five years. The
amount of goodwill and other intangible asset impair-
ment, if any, was measured based on projected
discounted future operating cash flows using a dis-
count rate reflecting the Company’s average cost of




funds. There were no Goodwill and other intangible

asset impairment charges for the years ended
December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assels

SFAS No. 144 provides a single accounting model for
long-lived assets to be disposed. SFAS No. 144 also
changes the criteria for classifying an asset as held for
sale; and broadens the scope of businesses to be dis-
posed of that qualify for reporting as discontinued
operations and changes the timing of recognizing loss-
es on such operations. The Company adopted SFAS
No. 144 on January 1, 2002. The adoption of SFAS
No. 144 did not affect the Company’s consolidated

financial statements.

In accordance with SFAS No. 144, long—lived assets,
such as property, plant, and equipment, and pur-
chased intangibles subject to amortization, are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of
an asset may not be recoverable.

Recoverability of assets to be held and used is meas-
ured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an
asset to estimated undiscounted future cash flows
expected to be generated by the asset. If the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its estimated future cash
flows, an impairment charge is recognized by the
amount by which the carrying amount of the asset
exceeds the fair value of the asset. Assets to be dis-
posed of would be separately presented in the balance
sheet and reported at the lower of the carrying
amount or fair value less costs to sell, and are no
longer depreciated. The assets and liabilities of a dis-
posed group classified as held for sale would be
presented separately in the appropriate asset and liabil-
ity sections of the balance sheet.

Goodwill and intangible assets not subject to amortiza-
tion are tested annually for impairment, and are tested
for impairment more frequently if events and circum-
stances indicate that the asset might be impaired. An
impairment loss is recognized to the extent that the
carrying amount exceeds the asset’s fair value.

Prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 144, the Company
accounted for long-lived assets in accordance with

SFAS No. 121, Accounting for Impairment of

Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to be
Disposed Of. There were no impairments of Long-
Lived Assets in the years ended December 31, 2002,
2001 and 2000.

Revenue Recognition

A substantial portion of the Company’s revenue is
derived from providing medical transcription services,
which are recognized when the services are rendered.
These services are based primarily on contracted rates.
A portion of the revenue is derived from the sale and
implementation of voice-capture and document man-
agement solutions and maintenance service of these
products. Revenue and profit on sales and implemen-
tation are recognized utilizing the percentage of
completion method. With regard to service contracts,
which are arranged separate from the product sale, the
typical arrangement spans 12 months. Revenue on the
service contracts is recognized on a straight line
method over the term of the underlying service con-
tract. Deferred revenues represent cash received from
customers in advance of revenues being recognized for
the related payment.

Research and Development and Advertising Costs

Research and development and advertising costs are
charged to expense as incurred. Research and develop-
ment expense was $2,736, $0 and $0 for the years
ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respec-
tively. Advertising costs were $1,618, $857, and $626
for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001, and
2000, respectively.

income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes in accot-
dance with SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income
Taxes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized
for the future tax consequences attributable to differ-
ences between the financial statement carrying
amounts of existing assets and liabilities and the
respective tax bases. The Company has recorded a val-
uation allowance to reduce deferred tax assets to the
amount that is more likely than not to be realized.
Management has considered future taxable income
and prudent and feasible tax planning strategies in
determining the need for a valuation allowance. In
the event management were to determine that the
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Company could not realize all or part of the net
deferred tax assets in the future, an adjustment to the
deferred tax assets would be charged to earnings in
the period such determination is made. Likewise, if
management later determines that it is more likely
than not that the net deferred tax assets would be
realized, the previously provided valuation reserve
would be reversed.

Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing net
income by the weighted average number of shares of
common stock outstanding for the period. Diluted

earnings per share is calculated by dividing net income

by the weighted average number of shares of common
stock outstanding for the period as adjusted for the
dilutive effect of common stock equivalents, which
consist primarily of stock options, using the treasury
stock method.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Cash and cash equivalents, cash equivalent with relat-
ed party, accounts receivable, accounts payable, and
accrued expenses are reflected in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements at fair value due to
the short-term nature of these instruments. The carry-
ing amount of debt obligations approximates fair
value at the balance sheet dates.

Comprehensive Income

The Company’s comprehensive income consists of net
income, unrealized holding gains on available-for-sale
securities and currency translation adjustments. The
Company’s comprehensive income is presented within
the accompanying Consolidated Statements of
Shareholders’ Equity. At December 31, 2002 and
2001, the Company had a currency translation adjust-
ments of $596 and $54 relating to its foreign
subsidiaries in the United Kingdom and Canada,
which are net of related deferred income taxes.

Segment Information

The Company manages its business in two segments;
services and solutions. While the two segments are
closely related, the services segment is largely com-
prised of transcription and coding services, while the
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solutions segment is comprised of the sale and service
of voice products. See Note 19 for disclosure of cer-
tain financial information by segment.

Statements of Cash Flow Information

For the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001, and
2000, the Company paid interest of $160, $86, and
$46, respectively, and income taxes of $22,811,
$21,222 and $17,007, respectively.

The following table displays the noncash financing
activities resulting from the Company’s business acqui-

sitions (see note 2).

Year ended December 31

2002 2001 2000
Noncash net assets acquired...... $ 48,657 $79837 $8,102
Less seller notes and payables . — (2,100) —
Net cash paid for
business acquisitions............... $ 48,657 $ 77,737 $8,102

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 143,
Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations. SEAS

No. 143 requires the Company to record the fair value
of an asset retirement obligation as a liability in the
period in which it incurs a legal obligation associated
with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets that
result from the acquisition, construction, develop-
ment, and/or normal use of the assets. The Company
also records a corresponding asset that is depreciated
over the life of the asset. Subsequent to the initial
measurement of the asset retirement obligation, the
obligation will be adjusted at the end of each period
to reflect the passage of time and changes in the esti-
mated future cash flows underlying the obligation.
The Company is required to adopt SFAS No. 143 on
January 1, 2003. The adoption of SFAS No. 143 is
not expected to have a material effect on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In April 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 145,
Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44 and 64,
Amendment of FASB Statement No. 13, and Technical
Corrections. SFAS No. 145 amends existing guidance
on reporting gains and losses on the extinguishment
of debt to prohibit the classification of the gain or loss
as extraordinary, as the use of such extinguishments



have become part of the risk management strategy of
many companies. SFAS No. 145 also amends SFAS
No. 13 to require sale-leaseback accounting for certain
lease modifications that have economic effects similar
to sale-leaseback transactions. The provisions of the
Statement related to the rescission of Statement No. 4
is applied in fiscal years beginning after May 15,
2002. Earlier application of these provisions is encour-
aged. The provisions of the Statement related to
Statement No. 13 were effective for transactions
occurring after May 15, 2002, with early application
encouraged. The adoption of SFAS No. 145 is not
expected to have a material effect on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.

In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146,
Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal
Activities. SFAS No. 146 addresses financial account-
ing and reporting for costs associated with exit or
disposal activities and nullifies Emerging Issues Task
Force (EITF) Issue 94-3, Liability Recognition for
Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs
to Exit an Activity. The provisions of this Statement
are effective for exit or disposal activities that are initi-
ated after December 31, 2002, with early application
encouraged. The adoption of SFAS No. 146 is not
expected to have a material effect on the Company’s
financial statements.

In November 2002, the FASB issued Interpretation
No. 45, Guarantors Accounting and Disclosure
Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect
Guarantees of Indebtedness to Others, an interpretation
of FASB Statements No. 5, 57 and 107 and a rescission
of FASB Interpretation No. 34. This Interpretation
elaborates on the disclosures to be made by a guaran-
tor in its interim and annual financial statements
abour its obligations under guarantees issued. The
Interpretation also clarifies that a guarantor is required
to recognize, at inception of a guarantee, a liability for
the fair value of the obligation undertaken. The initial
recognition and measurement provisions of the
Interpretation are applicable to guarantees issued or
modified after December 31, 2002 and are not expected
to have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements. The disclosure requirements are
effective for financial statements of interim and annual

periods ending after December 31, 2002.

In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148,
Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation — Transition
and Disclosure, an amendment of FASB Statement

No. 123. This Statement amends FASB Statement
No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,
to provide alternative methods of transition for a vol-
untary change to the fair value method of accounting
for stock-based employee compensation. In addition,
this Statement amends the disclosure requirements of
Statement No. 123 to require prominent disclosures
in both annual and interim financial statements.
Cerrain of the disclosure modifications are required
for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2002 and
are included in the notes to these consolidated finan-
cial statements.

In November 2002, the EITF finalized its tentative
consensus on EITF Issue 00-21, “Revenue
Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables”, which pro-
vides guidance on the timing and method of revenue
recognition for sales arrangements that include the
delivery of more than one product or service. EITF
00-21 is effective prospectively for arrangements
entered into in fiscal periods beginning after June 15,
2003. The Company is currently evaluating the
impact of the adoption of this consensus on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No.
46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an inter-
pretation of ARB No. 51. This Interpretation addresses
the consolidation by business enterprises of variable
interest entities as defined in the Interpretation. The
Interpretation applies immediately to variable interests
in variable interest entities created after January 31,
2003, and to variable interests in variable interest enti-
ties obtained after January 31, 2003. For nonpublic
enterprises, with a variable interest in a variable inter-
est entity created before February 2, 2003, the
Interpretation is applied to the enterprise no later than
the end of the first annual reporting period beginning
after June 15, 2003. The Company is currently evalu-
ating the impact of the adoption of this Interpretation
on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
The Interpretation requires certain disclosures in
financial statements issued after January 31, 2003 if it
reasonably possible that the Company will consolidate
or disclose information about variable interest entities
when the Interpretation becomes effective.
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Stock Options

The Company applies the intrinsic-value-based
method of accounting prescribed by Accounting
Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 25, Accounting
for Stock Issued to Employees, and related interpreta-
tions, to account for its fixed-plan stock options.
Under this method, compensation expense is recorded
on the date of grant only if the current market price
of the underlying stock exceeded the exercise price.
SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation, established accounting and disclosure
requirements using a fair-value-based method of
accounting for stock-based employee compensation
plans. As allowed by SFAS No. 123, as amended in
SFAS No. 148, the Company has elected to continue
to apply the intrinsic-value-based method of account-
ing described above, and has adopted only the
disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123.

Had compensation cost for the Company’s common
stock options been determined based upon the fair
value of the options at the date of grant, as prescribed
under SFAS No. 123, as amended by SFAS No. 148,
Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, the
Company’s net income and net income per share would
have been reduced to the following pro forma amounts:

Year ended December 31

2002 2001 2000

Net income:
As reported....coooeeeiieiieeiees $43,855

Add stock-based employee
compensation expense
included in reported net
income, net of tax ................ 19 59 93

Impact of total stock-based
compensation expense
determined under fair-value
based method for all rewards,

$43,642  $37,801

net of tax......coovveeiivien e (8.342) (8,702) (4,283)

Pro forma .......ocevvveviininrinnsenns $35.532 $34999  $33.611
Basic net income per share:

As reported. .o $ _1.18 $ 1.18 1.05

Pro forma....cccevevveeeiieiineeeinienn, $__0.96 0.95 0.93
Dituted net income per share:

As reported......ccoveeiiniiiiiinnnn, $ _1.16 1.16 1.02

Pro forma.......cccocviiiiciniiinnnnens $ 093 0.93 0.91
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The above pro forma amounts may not be indicative
of future amounts because option grants prior to
January 1, 1995 have not been included and because
future option grants are expected.

The fair value of the options granted is estimated
using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the
following weighted average assumptions:

Year ended December 31

2002 2001 2000
Risk-free interest rate................ 4.33% 5.92% 6.17%
Volatility ovvereeiccice e 57% 56% 55%
Expected dividend yield............. 0% 0% 0%
Expection option life.......cccveeee.. 5 years 5 years 5 years

2 Acquisitions

In 2002, the Company completed five acquisitions for
an aggregate purchase price of $48,657, which were all
cash transactions. In addition, one of the acquisitions
provides for an earn-out of up to $1,350. The acquisi-
tions in 2002 were accounted for under the purchase
method of accounting. Four of the acquisitions were
made to expand the Company’s coding business while
the other acquisition, which was the most significant
acquisition completed during the year, enables the
Company to provide clients with onsite solutions to
their document management needs. Additionally, this
acquisition has provided the Company with a formal,
professional sales force.

In 2001, the Company completed seven acquisitions
for an aggregate purchase price of $79,837, consisting
primarily of $77,737 in net cash payments and
$2,100 in notes due to the sellers. The acquisitions in
2001 were accounted for under the purchase method
of accounting.

In ﬁ)@@, the Company completed eight acquisitions for
an aggregate purchase price of $8,102, which were all
cash transactions. The acquisitions in 2000 were account-
ed for under the purchase method of accounting,

A summary of the final allocation of the purchase
price to net assets acquired is as follows:




Year ended December 31

2002 2001 2000

Purchase price:

Cash paid for acquisition
including transaction costs....$ 48,657 $77,737 $8,102

Notes due to sellers .....ccocuuve. — 2,100 —

$48,657 $ 79,837 $8.102

Purchase price allocation:

Accounts receivable................ $ 16,863 $ 10,037 $ 238
[nventories ..., 3,750 — —
Prepaid and other ........ccccuuee. 2,685 955 —
Property and equipment .......... 6,016 2,097 526
Deposits 109 2
Deferred taxes 24,018 —
Goodwill 38,244 —
Other Intangible assets............ 23,406 15,549 7,427
Accounts payable ........ccooeeee.n. (4,275) (3,100) —
Deferred revenue..................... (16,520) (247) —
Accrued expenses ........c.oeo...... (5,975) (7,287) (50)
Debt i, (72) (538) (41)

$48,657 $ 79,837 $8102

Included in the 2002 acquisitions was the acquisition
of Lanier Healthcare, LLC. (Lanier) on July 1, 2002,
for approximately $38,000 in cash. The following
unaudited proforma information is presented as if the
Lanier acquisition had been completed on January 1,
2001. All other acquisitions in 2002 were not material
to the Company. Prior to 2001, Lanier was part of a
consolidated company and separate financial state-
ments are not available. Therefore, unaudited
proforma information for the year ended December
31, 2000 is not presented.

Year ended December 31

2002 2001
REVENUE ..cooiveee e $526,950 484,328
Net Income......ccocvvvvvieicninenninn, 43,775 43,687
Basic net income per share......... 1.18 1.19
Diluted net income per share ..... 1.16 1.16

3 Restructuring Charges

In December 2001, management approved a restruc-
turing plan associated with the rollout of a new
transcription platform. The plan included the closure
of several operating facilities in order to improve oper-
ating efficiencies. Costs associated with the plan of
approximately $1,468 were recognized in 2001. The

components of the restructuring charge consist of
$1,343 for remaining payments on noncancelable leas-
es and $125 for severance of 28 individuals.

As of December 31, 2002, the Company had paid
$547 of the noncancelable leases and $44 of the sever-
ance in connection with the new transcription
platform plan. In 2002, management revised the esti-
mate of required reserves based on negotiated
settlements with various landlords and or negotiated
sublease arrangements and reversed $319 of the accru-
al related to noncancelable leases.

In November 2001, the Company completed the pur-
chase of a medical transcription company. In
connection with this acquisition, the Company estab-
lished a restructuring reserve of $1,790. The reserve
consists of $1,599 for remaining payments on non-
cancelable leases and $191 for severance of 10
individuals.

As of December 31, 2002, the Company had paid
$777 of the noncancelable leases and $181 of the sev-
erance related to the acquisition restructure reserve.
Also in 2002, management revised the estimate of
required reserves and reversed $296 related to non-
cancelable leases.

In December 1998, the Company’s board of directors
approved management’s restructuring plan associated
with the merger with another entity, that merger
transaction was accounted for as a pooling-of-interests.
The plan related primarily to the closure of several
redundant operating facilities as well as certain corpo-
rate offices in order to improve operating efficiencies.
Costs associated with the plan of approximately
$6,539 were recognized in 1998. The significant com-
ponents of the restructuring charge consist of $3,835
for remaining payments on noncancelable leases,
$1,618 for severance and $1,086 for noncancelable
contracts and other exit costs. The severance costs are
attributable to 41 individuals from various levels of
operational and senior management.

From the date the restructuring charge was recorded
in 1998 through December 31, 2002, the Company
paid costs of $1,500 for noncancelable leases, $1,310
for severance and $427 for noncancelable contracts
and other exit costs.
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In 1999, management revised the estimate of the
required reserves and reversed $2,333 of the 1998
restructuring charges relating to $1,492 of noncance-
lable leases, $182 for severance and $659 for
noncancelable contracts and other exit costs. In 2000
and 2001, management further revised the estimate of
the required reserves and reversed $471 and $170,
respectively, of the 1998 restructuring charge. All of
the reversal in 2000 relates to noncancelable leases as
well as $44 in 2001, while the remaining reversal in
2001 of $126 relates to severance. In 2002, manage-
ment again revised the estimate of the required
reserves and reversed $257 related to noncancelable
leases based on negotiated settlements with landlords
and or negotiated sublease arrangements.

In 1997, an acquired entity had approved a separate
management plan to close and/or merge several
redundant operating facilities in order to reduce costs
and improve operating efficiencies. The plan was com-
pleted during 1998 and included the cost of exiting
certain facilities, primarily related to noncancelable
leases, the disposition of fixed assets and employee sev-
erance costs. Costs associated with the plan of
approximately $2,075 were recognized in 1997 in
accordance with EITF 94-3. Included in this amount
is approximately $705 for the disposal of assets and
approximately $800 in severance and employee con-
tract buy-outs. The balance is primarily related to
noncancelable lease costs. The severance costs are
attributable to eight individuals from various levels of
operational and senior management. In 2001 and
2000, management revised its estimate of the required
reserves and reversed $430 and $542, respectively, of
the 1997 restructuring charge. At December 31, 2001,
the accrual had been fully urilized.
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The following is a summary of activity in the
restructuring accruals:
December 31
2002 2001 2000
Restructuring accruals:
Balance at beginning of year....$ 3,844 $ 1,449 $ 3,055
Provision ...c..ccoovevreniieciiinieens — 1,468 —
Adjustments:
2001 restructuring............... (318) - —
1998 restructuring ............... (257) (170) (471)
1997 restructuring ............... — (430) (542)
Net charge to operations .. {575) 868 (1,013)
ACQUISIHION vuvevicreriier e, (296) 1,790 —
Charges:
2001 restructuring ..., (1,465) (85) —
1998 restructuring ............... (342) (165) (576)
1997 restructuring ............... — (13) a7
Total charges......ccccvvvenenn. (1,807) (263) (593)
Balance at end of year............. $ 1166 $ 3844 $1.449

The restructuring accruals at December 31, 2002 con-
sist of the following components:

2001 1998 Total
SEVEraNnCe....vvnieeeriieeiiiiee e $ g1 $ — $ 91
Noncancelable leases ................ _ 1,004 71 1,075

$ 1,095 $ 71 $1.166
4 Inventories

Inventories consist of the following:

December 31

2002 2001
Raw materials............ceooeevinvnnns $ 1,237 $ —
Finished goods.......cccovvvvvecrcnnnn. 3,326 340
Total, e $ 4563 $ 340




5 Property and Equipment 6 Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Decernber 31 Amortization expense related to goodwill and other
2002 2001 intangible assets was $6,827, $9,398 and $7,335 for
Furniture, equipment and the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000
SOftWAre ...oooeieeiinen e $117,262 $95,845

respectively. The following tables reconcile previously

Leasehold improvements............. 4.072 3673 reported net income and earnings per share as if the
121,334 99,518 provisions of SFAS No. 142 were in effect from
Less accumulated depreciation January 1, 2000:
and amortization .................... (83,530) (65,351)_
37,804 34,167
3 = Year ended December 31
2001 2000
Depreciation and amortization expense was 318,829, gonorted net income ... $43 642 $37.801
$17,001 and $14,720 for the years ended Add back:
December 31, 2002, 2001, and 2000, respectively. Goodwill amortization,
net of tax ..ooooevivviveiiiiieeee 2,073 1,648
Adjusted net income.................. $45,715 $390,449
Reported basic net income
per Share........coooveeevvereinnnrenns $ 1.18 $ 1.05
Add back:
Impact of goodwill amortization,
net of 1aX i Q.06 0.05
Adjusted basic net income
per common Share........co.oovens. $ 1.24 $ 1.10
Reported diluted net income
Per Share.....cooveeeeeeeireiee e, $ 1.16 $ 1.02
Add back:
Impact of goodwill amortization,
net of tax oo, 0.05 0.04
Adjusted diluted net income
per common share.........c.coeee $ _1.21 $ 106
The carrying amount of acquired intangible assets is as follows:
December 31, 2002
Weighted
average
amortization Accumulated Net book
period Caost amortization value
Amortizable intangible assets:
Customerlists . ..... ... . . .. 21 years $ 76,960 (13,235) 63,725
Noncompete agreements . .. .............. 4 years 11,218 (8,080) 3,138
Other .. ... . e 4 years 10,804 (6,569) 4,235
................................ 17 years 98,982 (27,884) 71,098
Nonamortizable intangible asset:
Tradename . ... ... .. ... — 2,700 — 2,700
Total L. $101,682 (27,884) 73,798
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During 2002, the Company recorded the following
intangible assets in connection with acquisitions com-
pleted during the year. The acquired intangible assets
include the following:

Cost
Amortizable intangible assets:
Customer lists..cocoeevviniiiennans $17,051
Noncompete agreements.......... 555
Other v 3,100
.......................................... 20,706
Nonamortizable intangible asset:
Tradename. .c...oovvveeeviieiniinninns 2,700
TOtal e e s $23.406

Estimated amortization expense for amortizable intan-
gible assets for the next five years is: $6,896 in 2003,
$5,985 in 2004, $5,511 in 2005, $4,131 in 2006 and
$3,768 in 2007.

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for
the year ended December 31, 2002 are as follows:

Balance as of January 1,2002 .................. $110,584
Additional goodwill related to acquisitions 22,774

Deferred income tax for previously compieted
stock acquisitions .. ... ... 2,769

Balance as of December 31, 2002

Upon adoption of SFAS No. 142, the Company was
required to evaluate its existing intangible assets and
goodwill that were acquired in purchase business com-
binations, and to make any necessary reclassifications
in order to conform with the new classification criteria
in SFAS No. 141 for recognition separate from good-
will. The Company was also required to reassess the
useful lives and residual values of all intangible assets
acquited, and make any necessary amortization period
adjustments by the end of the first interim period after
adoption. For intangible assets identified as having
indefinite useful lives, the Company was required to
test those intangible asset for impairment in accor-
dance with the provisions of SFAS No. 142 within the
first interim period. Impairment was measured as the
excess of carrying value over the fair value of an intan-
gible asset with an indefinite life. The results of this
analysis did not require the Company to recognize an
impairment loss.

i MedQuist, Inc.

The carrying amount of goodwill by segment as of
December 31, 2002 is as follows:

Services Solutions _ Consolidated

................ $ 121,309 $14818 $136,127

Goodwill

The goodwill related to the Solutions segment was
recorded in connection with the Lanier acquisition
completed on July 1, 2002.

7 Investment

On April 6, 2000, the Company made a $6,051
investment in A-Life Medical, Inc. (A-Life), a private-
ly held entity thar is a leader in advanced natural
language processing technology for the medical indus-
try. The investment was initially recorded under the
cost method of accounting as the Company owned
19.5% of A-Life’s outstanding voting shares and had
no control of this entity.

In September 2001, the Company advanced $1,000
to A-Life as a prepayment on a license agreement. In
December 2001 and January 2002, the Company
advanced an aggregate of $783 to A-Life in connec-
tion with an additional equity investment that closed
in January 2002. The initial investment and the subse-
quent advances have been classified as other assets in
the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

As a result of the financing that closed in January
2002, the Company’s investment increased to 28.1%
of the outstanding voting shares of A-Life and, as
such, the investment has been accounted for under the
equity method of accounting. In accordance with
Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 18, the
prior year financial statements have been retroactively
adjusted. The previously reported net income for the
years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000 has been
decreased by $994 and $929, respectively, to reflect
the equity in losses of A-Life Medical, Inc. The impact
of the retroactive adjustments is to decrease previously
reported diluted earnings per share by $0.02 and
$0.02, respectively. The carrying amount of the invest-
ment in A-Life has also been adjusted to reflect the
percentage ownership in the losses incurred by A-Life
during the period the Company maintained the cost
basis investment. Accordingly, the investment was
reduced by $1,923 with a corresponding offset to
retained earnings. In addition, because A-Life had a




negative book value at the time of the change to the
equity basis of accounting, the entire remaining
adjusted investment was allocated to intangible assets,
of which $1,000 was allocated to acquired software.
The acquired software is being amortized over three
years. The remaining amount was recorded as good-
will, which has a book value of $4,200 as of
December 31, 2002.

In 2002, the ownership interest in A-Life was further
increased to 33.6%.

The Company received approximately $29 and $16 of
services from A-Life during the years ended
December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

8 Accrued Expenses
December 31
2002 2001
Payroll, benefits and
related taXES......ccoeveiiiniieeeen, $18,63% $15,764
Restructuring charges................ 1,166 3,844
Income taxes payable ................ 3,143 1,271
Other employee related expenses 2,318 2,318
Other e, 8,435 7,793
$33,701 $30,990
9 Valuation Account
December 31
2002 2001 2000
Allowance for doubtful accounts:
Balance at beginning of year....$ 5,148 $ 4,674 $ 4,668
Provision .......cooveveiviivinninennnen. 926 940 1,015
Acquisitions (note 2)............... 647 541 —
Charges....cooevevroreeresiinceeaens (1,115) (1,007) (1,009)
Balance at end of year............... $ 5,606 $ 5,148 $4674
10 Long-Term Debt
December 31
2002 2001
Seller NOteS ...vveeveviveieeicvireee s $ 75 $2,100
Capital lease obligations ............ — 15
Other .o 10 40
85 2,155
Less current portion................... 31 (1,067)

54 1,088

Interest expense on debt obligations was $43, $173
and $85 for the years ended December 31, 2002,
2001, and 2000, respectively.

Long-term debt as of December 31, 2002, matures as
follows:

Commitments and Gontingencies

Rent expense for operating leases was $9,436, $8,233
and $6,969 for the years ended December 31, 2002,
2001, and 2000, respectively. Minimum annual rental
commitments for noncancelable operating leases hav-
ing terms in excess of one year as of December 31,
2002, are as follows:

$16.603

The Company has an employment agreement, as
amended, with a former chief executive officer. The
agreement entitles this individual to receive retirement
benefits of $75 per year for life plus certain other ben-
efits, as defined. Included in other long term liabilities
is $674 and $629 at December 31, 2002 and 2001,
respectively, related to these retirement benefits. The
employment agreement also requires the Company to
loan the former chief executive officer’s estate the nec-
essary funds to exercise any options owned by the
individual ar the time of his death.

The Company has employment agreements with nine
executive officers, which expire at various times
through June 2003, subject to renewal. These agree-
ments provide an aggregate base compensation of
$1,958 both in the years ended December 31, 2002
and 2003, plus incentive compensation based on a
percentage of the executive’s salary. These agreements
also provide for certain other fringe benefits and pay-
ments upon termination of the agreements.
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The Company has severance agreements with certain
executive officers that provide for one-time payments
in the event of a change in control, as defined, if the
officer is terminated within 12 months of the change.
The payments range from 12-18 months of cash com-
pensation paid to the executive officers in the fiscal
year immediately prior to the change in control event.
If the change in control had occurred on December 31,
2002, and the executive officers had been terminated,
the payments would have aggregated $2,937.

In the normal course of business, the Company is
party to various claims and legal proceedings.
Although the ultimate outcome of these matters if
presently not determinable, management of the
Company, after consultation with legal counsel, does
not believe that the resolution of these matters will
have material effect upon the Company’s consolidated
financial position, results of operations, and liquidity.

12 Shareholder’s Equity

During the year ended December 31, 2000, the
Company repurchased 600 shares of outstanding
common stock for $15,466 at an average of $25.78
per share. All common stock acquired was subse-
quently retired.

In 2000, the Company issued 22 shares of common
stock to members of the board of directors. The fair
value of the stock grants was $311.

The Company also has a plan whereby certain non-
employee members of the board of directors have been
granted common stock but the shares will not be
issued until the directors terminate membership on
the Board. Stock granted in 2002, 2001 and 2000
were 2, 3, and 1, respectively, with a fair value at the
date of grant of $54, $54, and $36. Total accrued
costs for this plan are $224 and $170 at

December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

In 2002, 2001 and 2000, the Company issued a total
of 34, 69 and 49 shares of common stock with a value
of $865, $1,308 and $1,211, respectively, under

Company sponsored savings and stock purchase plans

(see Note 17).

MedQuist, Inc.

13 Stock Option Plans

The Company has six stock option plans that provide
for the granting of options to purchase shares of com-
mon stock to eligible employees (including officers)
and nonemployee directors of the Company. Options
may be issued at the fair market value of the common
stock on the date of grant or at a price determined by
a committee of the Company’s board of directors. The
stock options vest and are exercisable over periods
determined by the committee.

In February 1998, an entity acquired by the
Company, which acquisition was accounted for as a
pooling-of-interests, issued 165 stock options to
employees with exercise prices below the fair market
value of the common stock on the date of grant.
Accordingly, deferred compensation totaling $1,078
was recorded, of which $31, $97, and $163 was amor-
tized to expense in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
The deferred compensation was fully amortized at
December 31, 2002.




Information with respect to the Company’s common stock options is as follows:

Exercise price Aggregate

Shares per share proceeds
Outstanding, December 31, 1899 . .......... 3,169 $ 1.34-31.19 $ 42,905
Granted . ... .. ... 2,056 17.06 - 70.00 105,380
Exercised ......... ... . ... e (1,381) 1.67 - 44.00 (19,305)
Canceled . ... . i (244) 5.21 - 70.00 (7,295)
Qutstanding, December 31,2000 ........... 3,600 2.17 -70.00 121,685
Granted . ... ... . ... 1,190 16.00 - 43.50 26,675
Exercised . ... ... (651 5.21 -24.94 (670)
Canceled ......... .. ... .. . .. (165) 10.48 - 70.00 (7,410)
Outstanding, December 31,2001 ........... 4,574 2.17-70.00 140,280
Granted .. ........ ... 1,252 26.90 - 29.25 36,484
Exercised . ... (168) 2.17 - 24.94 (1,899)
Canceled . ... ... ... . . . (39) 16.00 - 70.00 (1,372)
Outstanding, December 31, 2002 ... ........ 5619 $ 2.17-70.00 $ 173493

At December 31, 2002, there were 2,548 exercisable options with an aggregate exercise price of $65,207 and 1,734
additional options available for grant under the plans. Exercisable options at December 31, 2001 and 2000 were
2,037 and 1,523 with an aggregate exercise price of $42,032 and $21,024, respectively.

A summary of outstanding options and exercisable options at December 31, 2002 is as follows:

Options outstanding

Options exercisable

Weighted Weighted Weighted

Average Average Average

Number of Remaining Exercise Number of Exercise

Range Of Exercise Prices Shares Contractual Life Price Shares Price

$ 0.00-%2.17 7 1.4 $ 2.17 7 $ 2.17
2.18~- 543 317 2.7 3.23 317 3.23
5.44 - 13.54 545 3.7 7.46 530 7.38
13.565-33.83 3,284 7.6 25.03 1,075 22.63
33.84 - 70.00 _1,466_ 7.4 58.73 619 57.94
5619 6.9 $ 30.88 2,548 $25.59

14 Other Income (Expense)

In the first quarter of 2001, the Company received net
proceeds of $3,000 in connection with the settlement
of a lawsuit.

In the third quarter of 2000, Philips completed a ten-
der offer in which it acquired approximately 60% of
the Company’s outstanding Common stock for
$51.00 per share. In connection with this tender offer,
the Company incurred approximately $6,255 of costs,
primarily related to investment banker fees. Since July
2000, Philips has purchased additional shares in the
open market, at various prices, thereby increasing its
ownership in the Company to approximately 70%.
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15 Income Taxes December 31

2002 2001
Eor ﬁnancml. reporting purposes, earnings fr'om OPErd~  potored tax assets:
tions before income taxes include the following INEANZIDIES vvvvrervresseeseereas $ 15,802 $ 22,372
components: Investment in A-Life................ 1,096 740
Foreign net operating loss
Year ended December 31 carryforwards .........ocovrienn. 2,996 2,049
2002 2001 2000 Domestic net operating loss
Earnings before income taxes: Carryforwards .......................... 2,870 2,870
United States .......c.ccoevvurvinene, $71,383  $72,188  $66,574 Restructuring accruals............. 464 822
International............. e (75) (606) — Accruals and reserves.............. 4,184 2,728
.......................................... $71.308  $71,582  $66.574 Vacation accrual...........c......... 1,270 688
Deferred compensation............ 662 526
The income tax provision consists of the following: ORI v 675 557
Total deferred tax assets ............ 30,019 33,352
Year ended December 31 Deferred tax liabilities:
2002 2001 2000 Fixed assets......ccocoiiiiiicnninnne (386) —
Current: Cumulative translation
' adjustments...oc...oovveeeiierriin. (397) —
Federal........coovvvviiiiiiiiineenn, $ 23,107 $24,784 $22,780 Total deferred tax liabilities ........ (783) .
State an.d lacal i, 3,475 3,099 3,196 Valuation allowance .............. (7.474) (6.977)
INternational.ceeeeveeveesesse 22l — —- Net deferred tax assets .$ 21,762 $ 26,375
26,803 27,883 25,976
Deferred: X . . L.
Federal 1198 (405) 2534 In connection with a purchase business combination
State and local '(452) 462 ’263 completed in November 2001, the Company acquired
. $28,048 in net deferred tax assets. Management
International.....ccccccevveveeinnnnn, (96) — —_ &

believes that $6,378 of these deferred tax assets will
not be realized. Accordingly, the Company recorded a
valuation allowance for this amount. This allowance
was established in purchase accounting. A valuation
allowance of $1,096 was recorded related to the
deferred tax asset associated with the Company’s
investment in A-Life.

650 57 2,797
$27.453 $27,940  $28,773

A reconciliation of the statutory federal income tax
rate to the Company’s effective income tax rate is as
follows:

Year ended December 31
2002 2001 2000

In prior years, the Company completed two acquisi-
tions that were accounted for as poolings-of-interest
for financial reporting purposes and as taxable pur-

chase transactions for income tax purposes. Deferred

Statutory federal income
tax rate oo, 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%

State income taxes,

net of federal benefit............... 2.5 3.4 3.5 tax assets were recognized upon consummation of
Ot e 1.0 0.6 47 these transactions with an offsetting credit to equity.
38.5% 39.0% 43.2% The Company is deducting the amortization of the

intangible assets recorded for tax purposes and record-
ing a reduction of current taxes payable and the

The tax affected temporary differences that give rise to )
deferred tax assets previously recorded.

deferred income taxes are as follows:

Realization of the Company’s remaining net deferred
tax assets is dependent on future taxable income.
Management believes that such assets will be realized;
however, ultimate realization could be negatively
impacted by market conditions and other variables
not known or anticipated at this time.
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16 Earnings Per Share

The table below sets forth the reconciliation of the
numerators and denominators of the Company’s basic

and diluted income per share computations for the
years ended December 31, 2002, 2001, and 2000.

Per share
Net income Shares amount
2002:
BasiC .ooveriiiiiee e $43,855 37,013 $ 1.18
Effect of dilutive securities ...... — 862
Diluted...oovvvreiiiiiee . $43 855 37,875 1.16
2001:
BasiC .ovviiiiiier e, $43,642 36,842 1.18
Effect of dilutive securities ...... — 876
Diluted.....vveeirreiiiiee, $43642 37,718 1.16
2000:
BasiC ..viivieeiieie e, $37,801 36,154 1.05
Effect of ditutive securities ...... — 1,015
Diluted..ii $37,801 37,169 $ 1.02

For the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001, and
2000, 2,247, 2,608 and 2,055 common stock options,
respectively, were excluded from the diluted computa-
tion because the effect would be anti-dilutive.

17 Employee Benefit Plans

Savings Plan

The Company offers a savings plan under

Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. This
savings plan allows eligible employees to contribute up
t0 15% of their compensation on a pretax basis. The
Company matches 50% of the participant’s contribu-
tion, up to 5% of the participant’s total compensation.
The matching contribution is made on a quarterly
basis using the Company’s common stock. The charge
to operations for the Company’s matching contribu-
tions was $1,280, $941 and $867 in 2002, 2001, and
2000, respectively. The Company issued 14 shares in
2002, 34 shares in 2001, and 27 in 2000, in connec-
tion with the Company’s matching contribution, with
a value of $377, $809 and $707, respectively. Effective
in the second quarter of 2002, the Company no
longer issues new shares in connection with the match
feature of the 401(k) savings plan. Instead, these
shares are now purchased on the open market. During
2002, the Company purchased 34 shares on the open
market for $810.

18

Stock Purchase Plan

All full-time employees except those who own 5% or
more of the common stock of the Company, are eligi-
ble to participate in the Company’s Employee Stock
Purchase Plan (SPP). The SPP provides that partici-
pants may authorize the Company to withhold up to
10% of their earnings for the purchase of the stock.
The purchase price of the common stock is deter-
mined by the Compensation Committee but shall not
be less than 85% of the fair market value of the
Common stock. Through the SPP, 20, 35 and 22
Common shares were purchased in 2002, 2001, and
2000 at a total purchase price of $488, $499, and
$504, respectively.

Related-Party Transactions

In the fourth quarter of 2000, the Company began
participating in a deposit facility established by Philips
which allowed investments up to $100 million to earn
interest at LIBOR less 0.125 percent, for up to 365
days. The Company withdrew all funds invested in
this related party deposit facility in the second quarter
of 2001 and, at December 31, 2001, the Company
had no such investment. The facility terminated in
February 2002. Interest income earned on cash
deposited with Philips was $402 for the year ended
December 31, 2001, all of which was earned in the six
months ended June 30, 2001.

MedQuist incurred costs of $1,933 with Philips in the
year ended December 31, 2001, related to a licensing
agreement entered into to provide for the integration
and use of certain Philips speech recognition technolo-
gy. This agreement was amended in January 2002,
which required a $150 up front payment in addition
to a fee based on a per payroll line basis. For the year
ended December 31, 2002, the $150 was paid and
there have been no fees incurred on a payroll line
basis. The agreement expires on May 22, 2005.

In addition to the revision to the license agreement,
the Company entered into a consulting agreement
with Philips. This agreement calls for Philips to aid
the Company with the integration of its speech and
transcription technologies. Under this agreement,
MedQuist has incurred costs of $468 for the year
ended December 31, 2002.
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Presently, all business insurance coverages with the
exception of workers’ compensation, are provided by
Philips. For the years ended December 31, 2002 and
2001, the Company incurred $133 and $0 in premi-
ums with Philips under these policies.

Philips also sells dictation related equipment to
MedQuist and for the year ended December 31,
2002, the Company has incurred $851 in costs for
such equipment.

MedQuist also participates in a group purchasing
agreement with Philips which allows MedQuist to
participate in Philips’ discounts on supplies. For the
year ended December 31, 2002, the Company paid
Philips $55 to participate in this program.

Management believes that all related party transac-
tions are on an arms-length basis.

19 Segment Financial Data
A meml?er of the Company’s board of directors is a ' Segment information is presented based on a manage-
partner in a law' firm that has eflgaged to act as special ment approach, which requires segmentation based on
counsel in certain matters. During the years ended the Company’s internal organization and disclosure of
De.cember 31, 2002, 2001, and 2000, the Cc?mpany revenue and operating income based on internal
paid this firm $29, $1,055 and $373, respectively. accounting methods. The Company’s financial report-
ing systems present various data for management to
run the businesses, including profit and loss statements.
Year ended December 31, 2002
Intersegment
Services Solutions Corporate Items Total
REVENUE . .vveevvineierre e $ 448,856 $ 37,915 $ — $ (605) $486,166
Cost of revenue ......ccccvevvrennen. 340,740 24,641 — (285) 365,096
Depreciation and
amortization........ccoceeiieiniieiiene 22,927 1,583 1,146 — 25,656
Operating inCOME . .cccoiiiviinininnen 85,746 1,183 (15,614) (314) 71,001
Total assets.....ccccveevireniiennininnnns $ 400,329 $ 66,256 $ 8741 $ _ (45h) $474.871
Year ended December 31, 2001
Intersegment
Services Solutions Corporate ltems Total
Revenue .......c.ooeeivieeiininiiinininns $ 405,308 $ — $ — $ — $405,308
Cost of revenue ......c.cccoeevvicennnne 299,102 — — — 299,102
Depreciation and
amortization.....c.cceeiveeieinnnnnnn, 25,464 — 935 — 26,399
Operating inCOMe ....cooevvvvinennen 81,939 — (13,117) — 68,822
Total 8ssets...coccivvreiniaciiieneninns $ 393,841 3 — _$ 8273 3 — $402,114
Year ended December 31, 2000
Intersegment
Services Solutions Corporate ltems Total
REVENUE .. meenvveieenevannnes $ 364,149 $ — $ — $ — $364,149
Cost of revenue .......ccccoeeeeeeeennn. 265,817 — — — 265,817
Depreciation and
amortization......ccceeeeviieienininnne 21,554 — 501 — 22,055
Operating income ..........cooveenne. 71,035 — (11,078) — 59,957
Total asseiS..oviiveriieiiirerrireienans $341,132 $ — $ 7,841 $ — $ 348,973
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Quarterly Supplemental Financial Data (Unaudited)

The following tables present certain unaudited consolidated quarterly financial information for each of the eight

quarters in the period ended December 31, 2002.

Three months ended

September 30

December 31

March 31 June 30
Year ended December 31, 2002:
Revenues . ............ ..., $ 113,974 $ 113,631
Income before incometaxes .............. 19,458 20,061
Netincome . ....... ... ... .. ... 11,966 12,338
Basic net income per common share . ....... 0.32 0.33
Diluted net income per common share ..... .. 0.32 0.33
Year ended December 31, 2001:
REVENUES ...\ o otttieeeee L...% 95099 $ 97,978
Income before income taxes .............. 20,628 17,023
Netincome ......... ... ... ... .. ... 12,573 10,364
Basic net income per common share . ....... 0.34 0.28
Diluted net income per common share .. ... .. 0.34 0.27

The Company recorded a pretax gain of $3,000 in the
first quarter of 2001 in connection with the settle-
ment of a lawsuit (see note 14) and recorded a pretax
restructuring charge of $1,468 in the fourth quarter of
2001 (see note 3). In the third quarter of 2000 the
Company recorded pretax tender offer costs of $6,255
(see note 14). Based on the increase in the ownership
percentage of A-Life and the resulting change to the
equity method of accounting (see Note 7), the
Company retroactively recorded its share in the net
loss of A-Life Medical of $294, $274, $248 and $178
in the first, second, third and fourth quarters of 2001
respectively.

$ 129,750
15,510
9,539
0.26

0.25

$ 102,695
17,409
10,612

0.29
0.28

$ 128,811
16,279
10,012

0.27
0.27

$ 109,536
16,522
10,093

0.27
0.27
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Independent Auditers’ Report

The Board of Directors
MedQuist Inc.:

We have audited the 2002 consolidated financial statements of MedQuist Inc. and subsidiaries. These financial state-
ments are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audit. The 2001 and 2000 consolidated financial statements of MedQuist Inc. and
subsidiaries were audited by other auditors who have ceased operations. Those auditors expressed an unqualified
opinion on those financial statements, before the revision and restatement described in Notes 6 and 7, respectively, to
the financial statements, in their report dated January 30, 2002.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the finan-
cial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audir also includes assessing the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the 2002 consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of MedQuist Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2002, and the results of their operations and
their cash flows for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.

As discussed above, the 2001 and 2000 financial statements of MedQuist Inc. and subsidiaries, were audited by other
auditors who have ceased operations. As described in Note 6, these financial statements have been revised to include
the transitional disclosures required by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, Goodwill and Other
Intangibles, which was adopted by the Company as of January 1, 2002. In addition, as described in Note 7, these
financial statements have been restated to include changes from the cost method of accounting for an investment to
the equity method in connection with an increase in the level of ownership as required by Accounting Principles
Board Opinion No. 18, The Equity Method of Accounting for Investments in Common Stock. We audited the
adjustments that were applied to revise and restate the 2001 and 2000 financial statements. In our opinion, the tran-
sitional disclosures for 2001 and 2000 in Note 6 and the adjustments of the 2001 and 2000 financial statements for
the change in method of accounting for the investment (Note 7) are appropriate and have been appropriately applied.
However, we were not engaged to audit, review, or apply any procedures to the 2001 and 2000 financial statements
of MedQuist Inc. and subsidiaries other than with respect to such disclosures and adjustments, and, accordingly, we
do not express an opinion or any other form of assurance on the 2001 and 2000 financial statements taken as a whole.

KPre UP

Philadelphia, PA

March 3, 2003
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The following report is a copy of a previously issued Arthur Andersen LLP (“Andersen”) report and the report has not been
reissued by Andersen. The Andersen report refers to the Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2000, which is no longer included
in the accompanying financial statements.

Report of Independent Public Accountants

To MedQuist Inc. and Subsidiaries:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of MedQuist Inc. (a New Jersey corporation) and
Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’
equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2001. These financial statements
are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those stan-
dards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of MedQuist Inc. and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the results of their operations and their
cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2001, in conformity with accounting princi-
ples generally accepted in the United States.

/s/ Arthur Andersen LLP

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
January 30, 2002
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Our common stock is traded on the
Nasdaq National Market under the symbol
“MEDQ”. The following table sets forth
the high and low reported prices for our
Common Stock for the last two fiscal years
and for the first quarter of 2003. The bid
quotations for the Nasdaq National Market
reflect inter-dealer prices, do not include
retail mark-ups, mark-downs or commis-
sions and may not necessarily reflect actual
transactions.

High Low
2001
First Quarter .....cccocvvvvevvveenennn.. $22.13 $15.88
Second Quarter .......cceceveeviieeee. 29.99 20.00
Third Quarter .....co.ocvvvieivevennnnns 33.14 23.95
Fourth Quarter .......c....cceeeeen 30.62 21.30
2002
First Quarter ....ccooeeeeeeeiiiininnnnn, $ 30.45 $ 27.47
Second Quarter ...........cooeeeneee. 29.50 26.02
Third Quarter ........cooeevevivennennn 28.34 22.79
Fourth Quarter........c.oooevevvieeen. 23.40 16.86
2003

First Quarter
(through March 17, 2003) ........ $ 20.66 $ 14.92

MedQuist, Inc.

Market Price for the Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Sharehelder Matters

On March 17, 2003, the closing sale price
for the Common Stock, as reported on the
Nasdaq National Market, was $16.21 per

share.

We have never declared or paid any cash
dividends on our Common Stock. We
expect to retain any future earnings to fund
operations and the continued development
of our business and, therefore, do not
anticipate paying any cash dividends in the
foreseeable future.
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